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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

VITE TECHNOLOGIES, LLC 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

DEPUY MITEK, LLC, 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 14-14697	
  

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Vite Technologies, LLC (“VT”), by way of this Complaint for Patent 

Infringement (“Complaint”) against the above-named Defendant DePuy Mitek, LLC (“Mitek” or 

“Defendant”), alleges as follows:  

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the Patent Laws of the 

United States, Title 35 of the United States Code. 

THE PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff VT is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of 

Delaware with a place of business at 1013 Centre Road, Suite 403S, Wilmington, Delaware, 

19805. 

3. On information and belief, Defendant DePuy Mitek, LLC is a limited liability 

company organized under the laws of the State of Massachusetts with its principal place of 

business at 325 Paramount Dr., Raynham, MA 02767, with a resident agent for service of 

process at CT Corporation System, 155 Federal Street, Suite 700, Boston, Massachusetts, 02110.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 
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5. On information and belief, Defendant is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court by 

virtue of the fact that it is organized under the laws of the State of Massachusetts. 

6. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(c) and 1400(b). 

THE PATENT-IN-SUIT 

7. On November 18, 2003, United States Patent No. 6,648,892 (the “’892 Patent”), 

entitled “SOFT TISSUE SECURING ANCHOR,” was duly and legally issued by the United 

States Patent and Trademark Office.  A true and correct copy of the ’892 Patent is attached as 

Exhibit A to this Complaint. 

8. VT is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the ’892 

Patent, including the right to assert all causes of action arising under said patent and the right to 

any remedies for infringement of it. 

COUNT I – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,648,892 

9. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 8 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

10. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Mitek has directly infringed and continues to 

directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ’892 Patent by making, 

using, offering for sale, selling, and importing products (the “Accused Instrumentalities”) that 

practice the subject matter claimed in one or more claims of the ’892 Patent, including but not 

limited to claim 24, in the United States, without the authority of VT.  The Accused 

Instrumentalities include, but are not limited to the DePuy Mitek Fastin RC Anchor. 

11. On or around July 16, 2003, counsel for Dr. Jeannette Martello sent a letter to E. 

Richard Skula, Office of General Counsel for Johnson & Johnson, parent company of Mitek, 

informing him that U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 09/747,991 had been allowed and would 

soon issue.  The letter stated: “Claim 67 covers a surgical screw anchor for placement in bone 
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structure with a placement tool.  The anchor includes a threaded anchor body, a head coupling 

with a placement tool, a suture passage with a chamfered aperture and a suture passage axis lying 

on a plane generally perpendicular to an axis extending through the body.  The Mitek FASTIN® 

suture anchors have all of these elements, and all of the elements of allowed claim 68.  

Moreover, they serve the same purpose and operate the same way as Dr. Martello’s invention.” 

12. On November 18, 2002, U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 09/747,991 issued as 

the ’892 Patent. 

13. On information and belief, Johnson & Johnson discussed and shared the July 16, 

2003 letter with Mitek.   

14. Mitek has had actual knowledge of the ’892 Patent and its infringement of the 

’892 Patent since at least receipt of the July 16, 2003 letter. 

15. On information and belief, therefore, Mitek’s infringement of the ’892 Patent is 

willful and deliberate, entitling Plaintiff to enhanced damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284 and 

attorneys’ fees and non-taxable costs under 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

16. Mitek is also inducing infringement of the ’892 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), 

since at least receipt of the July 16, 2003 letter, by actively aiding and abetting others (including 

its direct and indirect customers) whose sale, offer for sale, importation, and use of the Accused 

Instrumentalities constitutes direct infringement.  Mitek has engaged in these actions with either 

the specific intent to cause infringement or with willful blindness to the infringement that it is 

causing.  For example, Mitek’s actions that actively induce its customers to directly infringe at 

least claim 24 of the ’892 Patent include advertising and selling the Accused Instrumentalities, 

providing user manuals regarding use of the Accused Instrumentalities, and providing technical 

support regarding the use of the Accused Instrumentalities, where the use of the Accused 
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Instrumentalities during normal operation by Mitek’s customers infringe at least claim 24 of the 

’892 Patent.  For instance, Mitek’s website https://www.depuysynthes.com/hcp/mitek-sports-

medicine/products/qs/Fastin-RC advertises that the FASTIN® RC Dual-Channeled Anchor, 

threaded with ORTHOCORD® Suture, offers an advantageous high-strength solution to surgeons 

who perform both arthroscopic and open rotator cuff procedures.” 

17. Mitek is also committing contributory infringement of the ’892 Patent under 35 

U.S.C. § 271(c) since at least receipt of the July 16, 2003 letter by importing and selling the 

Accused Instrumentalities to others, including but not limited to its customers, knowing and/or 

being willfully blind to the fact that these products constitute a material part of the invention, 

were especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ’892 Patent, and 

have no substantial non-infringing uses.    For example, the Accused Instrumentalities constitute 

a material part of the claimed invention at least because they contain all of the components of the 

surgical screw anchor as claimed in claim 24 of the ’892 Patent.  The Accused Instrumentalities 

were made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ’892 Patent and have no 

substantial non-infringing uses.  

18. VT has been harmed by Mitek’s infringing activities. 

JURY DEMAND 

VT demands a jury trial on all issues and claims so triable. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, VT prays for judgment as follows: 

a. An adjudication that Mitek has infringed the ’892 patent; 

b. An award of damages to be paid by Mitek adequate to compensate VT for past 

infringement of the ’892 Patent, and any continuing or future infringement through the date such 
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judgment is entered, including prejudgment and post-judgment interest, costs, expenses and an 

accounting of all infringing acts including but not limited to those acts not presented at trial; 

c. An order that Mitek pay an ongoing royalty in an amount to be determined for 

any continued infringement after the date judgment is entered;  

d. An award of treble damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

e. A declaration finding this to be an exceptional case, and awarding VT attorney 

fees under 35 U.S.C. § 285; and 

f. Such further relief at law and in equity as the Court may deem just and proper. 

Dated:  December 22, 2014	
   Respectfully, 

 
/s/ Josh Gardner    

      Josh Gardner (BBO #657347) 
      Nick Rosenberg (BBO #657887) 
      Gardner & Rosenberg P.C. 
      33 Mount Vernon St. 
      Boston, MA 02108 
      Tel: 857-225-2743 
      josh@gardnerrosenberg.com 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Vite Technologies, LLC	
  


